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Chairman's Report

Phillip Snowden
Chair

"Our challenge throughout the past year has
continued to be access to water."
We entered July 2019 with a second year of zero allocation of General Security
water. The water we were able to deliver came from our own efficiencies and the
carryover held by individual farmers. Much of this was a testament to our upgraded
infrastructure, diligent staff, and our appreciation for such a precious resource.
After the irrigation season, we were fortunate to see an initial small allocation of
General Security water.
We all know that weather is highly variable, and as a company we are therefore
committed to focusing on achieving greater water security for our region. This
focus leads us directly to our priorities, which are to provide services efficiently, to
advocate for a fairer policy framework, and to build access to additional water.

Home

We look forward to these efforts changing the outcomes that affect our region.
We see our role as complimentary but different to that of the well-known lobbying
groups in our area, such as Speak Up, SRI and the Murray Regional Strategy
Group (MRSG).

"Importantly, we are all united by the same
determination."

Since 2000, the water available for delivery by Murray Irrigation Limited (MIL) has
halved due to policy changes, environmental water recovery and reduced inflows.
As a region, we must restore certainty and, with that, hope. The loss of yield has
impacted our shareholders, customers and MIL. For each, a loss of water means a
loss of revenue and confidence in the future.

Of course, like every other business, we have been forced to change due to the
COVID-19 pandemic. This change forced us to separate our work teams and
have our office staff operate from their homes. We have discovered new ways
of working without any serious impact on services, and we aim to keep these
efficiencies, even as the country returns to a more ‘normal’ way of working.

The appointment of our new Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Phil Endley,
took effect in August 2019 to help implement the next stage of MIL as a company.
Over the past year, we have divested our non-core prefabricated concrete
business, MILCast.

The Board is unified around the need for change and for us to play our part in
rebuilding the regional economy.

As part of a business review, we reduced our headcount while retaining our core
skills and capabilities. Our staff responded well by taking on more responsibility
and multi-skilling, while continuing to deliver efficient water through times that have
been hard for our communities; the efficiency journey will not end.



We would like to see this focus on efficiency applied to the management of
all water resources across the Murray-Darling Basin, achieving more yield for
entitlement owners, and delivering better environmental outcomes without further
water recovery. This is one reason we have increased our advocacy effort. We
make submissions to all significant reviews that take place and argue confidently,
constantly, and respectfully for change.
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I thank the Board, our CEO and his Executive team, and all the hard-working staff
at Murray Irrigation for their commitment during some very difficult times. It is a
privilege to be the Chair of Murray Irrigation.
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Chairman's Report

Finance

CEO's Report

Phil Endley
Chief Executive Officer

"This has been a
challenging and
rewarding year
following my
appointment as
CEO in August 2019."
As the Chair noted, our main issue is
water. The business is efficient, but
without water its ability to cover costs
and invest for the future is constrained.
Sustainability remains a key subject for
the business and the region.

Over the past year we have delivered:
ö Around 90GL of water through efficiencies,
irrespective of allocations
ö A new advocacy approach — our reputation and
reach are already improving
ö The completion of the Private Irrigation Infrastructure
Operators Program (PIIOP) projects — we are
working through the integration of these systems into
our normal operation
ö The sale of MILCast
ö A business expenditure review that resulted in
changes to our workforce and expenditure without
reducing services or our core capabilities
ö A business revenue review, which prioritised four
new project initiatives to bring more water and
revenue to the region
ö A financial pathway to allow MIL to generate
sufficient operating cash flows to ensure the short
and long term financial needs of the business are met
in a sustainable way
ö A more proactive approach to our communication

"The COVID-19 pandemic was a
completely unexpected challenge
for the company. I am very proud
of the performance of all MIL staff
and their flexibility in continuing
to deliver our services. They have
shown remarkable commitment and
belief in what we are doing."
Our staff have seen increased numbers of customer
interactions due to the pandemic, drought, supplementary
water events and a shift in our business operations —
it is a testament to them that customer service levels have
remained exceptionally high throughout this period, while
employee numbers were lean.
I recognise that this has been a tough year for our customers
and the company. I remain convinced of the great potential of
the Southern Riverina to spring back from adversity, and with
winter rains we can already see this starting to happen.
I thank the Board, our Executive team and staff for their
support, and I assure our customers of our determination to
deliver on your behalf.

ö Resolution of some legacy issues that have
accumulated over the past decade.
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CEO's Report

Finance continued

Finance

With the completion of
the Private Irrigation
Infrastructure Operators
Program (PIIOP) and the
sale of MILCast, it is
appropriate that we focus
on our core business
— the delivery of water
for irrigation, stock and
domestic purposes, and
advocating for our region.
We have an infrastructure business that,
necessarily, involves decisions with long
term implications. We are also mindful of
the impacts that drought and adverse farm
gate prices have had on our customer and
shareholder base.
Therefore, we have developed four pillars
to inform our thinking around the financial
implications of our overall strategy which
are discussed here.
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Finance

About us

Finance (continued)

1. We will manage our costs appropriately
There were minor reductions in operating costs for FY20.
Wage costs fell overall, however, some of the benefits were offset by one-off
restructuring costs. Our budget for wages in FY21 reflects the positive full-year
impact of the restructure in October/November 2019.
Our other operating expenses remained similar to the prior year with an increase in
our impairment charge for debtors offset by savings in operating costs.

2. Our capital program
We will continue to refine a capital program which is fit-for-purpose and does not allow
a long-term decline in our infrastructure to develop — we will implement it effectively.
There has been a significant effort to identify the condition of our assets,
particularly those used by the public, such as bridges. As part of our three-year
rolling maintenance strategy, we have started work to repair our assets and
enhance their life, which results in a more structured and cost-effective outcome.
We are looking to ensure a fit-for-purpose asset base that is safe and provides an
improved level of service to our customers over the long term.

3. Investment of Funds
We have reviewed the very conservative asset allocation of the investment funds
we hold for the future.
We have taken professional advice and will gradually transition the funds held for
the long term, into investments which have prospects of long-term growth, such as
Australian and offshore equity portfolios and bonds - a portion will remain in cash.
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We have also determined that there is merit in investing a portion of the H2O
Fund in permanent water entitlements, focused on the Southern Riverina initially.
We anticipate holding this portfolio for long-term capital growth, with the sale of
allocations providing an annual yield.

4. Use of our water resources
We will balance the interests of MIL with those of our shareholders when we make
decisions about our water resources.
We understand there are a range of views among our customers about how we
deal with the water resource that arises from our operating efficiencies, and we
take this into account in our resource decisions.
We know that over recent years the financial resources of the company have been
reduced, at least in part because of insufficient operating cash flow resulting in
funds that are held for the long-term, funding our short-term cash flow needs. We
believe this is not in the long-term interests of our stakeholders.
Our analysis shows that funds from the sale of part of our water resources will help
deliver a sustainable and robust financial position for the long term. This includes
having an annual operating surplus to ensure that the AMRR fees we collect are
available for allocation to the AMRR Fund (for our major capital program), and that
our minor capital program is funded from an annual operating cash flow surplus.
To do otherwise involves creating an adverse legacy for MIL, our shareholders and
the region.
We are planning a significant advocacy program in FY21, which is assisted by our
target of an appropriate operating cash surplus each year.
We look forward to executing our financial strategy for the long-term benefit of our
shareholders and the region
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Murray Irrigation operates one of
Australia’s most efficient open channel
water distribution systems, delivering
reliable, productive irrigation water
to approximately 2,100 landholdings
across 724,000 hectares in the
Southern Riverina.
Located in southern NSW, Murray
Irrigation uses approximately 2,755
kilometers of gravity-fed, earthen
channels to deliver an average of
468GL to our landholders, through
efficient management of our NSW
Murray Regulated River Water Access
Licences (WALs).

Murray Irrigation is an unlisted, private
company that operates within the
Murray-Darling system. The company
uses its infrastructure and licenses
to provide irrigation water to its
shareholders and customers via its
WaterWell products, even when there
is zero allocation from NSW river
operators.

Moulamein

Conargo
Jerilderie
Burraboi

Pretty Pine

Wakool
Deniliquin
Blighty
Berrigan

We also advocate for the region,
aiming to influence government water
policy outcomes to benefit our most
important target market —
our customers

Bunnaloo

Tocumwal

Mathoura

LEGENDS
Barooga

Channels
Main Canals

Mulwala

Area of Operations

NEW SOUTH WALES
VICTORIA

Moama

Murray Irrigation’s WATER values underpin all that we do:

W

A

Wellbeing and safety
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About us

Performance Overview

At a Glance

Main areas of operation

Landholdings supplied

Area of operations

Supply system (channel)

Deniliquin
Finley
Wakool

2,116

724,000ha

2,755km

gravity-fed earthen channels

Water access licences (license/paper)
NSW Murray Regulated River as at 30 June 2020:

ö 815,460 units general security – non-government

Sub-surface drainage catchment

Supply points

25,000ha

4,278

ö 193,826 units general security – other
ö 279,786 units conveyance
ö 121,704 units supplementary water

Drainage system

ö 137 units high security – irrigation

1,422km

ö 3,170 units high security – town
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At a Glance

Performance overview continued

Performance Overview

Safety (LTIFR)

WaterWell

Our continued focus and dedication
towards workplace safety is reflected
in our achievement of 881 Lost Time
Injury (LTI) free days and a zero Lost
Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR)
for the last two financial years. This
is a direct testament to our staff and
represents a significant culture of
continuous improvement.

103GL

Financial Year
(FY)
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Lost Time Injury
Frequency Rate
(LTIFR)

Total back into the footprint

5%

162GL
88GL

Allocation Advance

20GL – $8.76M
revenue
Sustainability Product

0

2018/19

0

5%

2017/18

2.5

Water Users Credit

2016/17

10.5

2015/16

20

2%

CEO's
Report

Delivery efficiency

WaterNSW – River Operations

2019/20

Chairman's
Report

77%

Total amount of
water delivered

on-farm

Orders

15GL

5,717

265GL

62%

environment

orders placed

total

delivered under the six day wait

47%

under four days

Resource Distribution
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Performance Overview

Performance Overview
(continued)

Advocacy

Busiest days

400 interactions

371 interactions

Monday, 9 September 2019
(Sustainability Product EOI
process)

Wednesday, 11 December 2019
(Water for Fodder EOI process)

2020

Winter Works
Total number of
customer interactions

Average interactions
per day

Zero
Lost Time Injuries (LTI)

45,000
labour hours

35,076

96

2019/20

30
primarily local contractors

4,800+
work orders

30,028

82

85
bridge engineering assessments

195
bridge life-extending works

21,043

57

29
bridge emergency repairs /

1,513
regulators serviced

60km
channels de-silted and de-weeded

286
SlipMeters cleaned and desilted

2019/20

2018/19

2018/19

2017/18

major structural works

2017/18

Learn to Swim sponsorship

978

$10,758

Children
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Disclaimer: The information provided for the 2020 Winter Works is inclusive of the whole winter
period from May 2020 to August 2020, in order to capture the project in its entirety. Therefore,
data is inclusive of FY21.
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Performance Overview

Advocacy continued

Advocacy

The past twelve months saw Murray
Irrigation take an attentive approach
to finding ways to bring more water
into the footprint.
Since privatisation, our farmers and Murray Irrigation have
been adversely impacted through a relentless series of water
reforms, which have also been compounded by a dryer
climate.
Our advocacy efforts focus on a range of initiatives to
help our region recover from these impacts, attract more
water to improve farmer investment confidence, and lay the
foundations for a prosperous future.
The FY20 has seen us make several submissions and
responses to the various Reports and Inquiries that were
announced. They are uploaded to our website for our
customers and shareholders to read.
We look forward to further progress as we continue to
advocate on behalf of our shareholders and our region.
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Advocacy

Key Activities

Advocacy (continued)

FY20 Submissions and Responses
October 2019

ACCC Inquiry into water
markets in the Murray-Darling
Basin – Issues Paper, (MIL and
Murray Regional Strategy Group
Joint Submission)
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December 2019

January 2020

April 2020

Independent Review of the Water
for Environment Special Account –
Discussion Paper

Interim Inspector-General Inquiry into
Management of Murray-Darling Basin
Water Resources

Independent Assessment of Social
and Economic Conditions in the Basin
– response to Draft Report
Review of Round One of the Water
for Fodder program.
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Advocacy

Key Activities continued

FY20 Key Activities
AGM conducted.
WaterWell; Allocation Advance and
Sustainability Products released.

Board re-appointed; Phil Snowden
reappointed as Chair and Noel Baxter
appointed as Deputy Chair.

Drought Response Team announced;
delivered more than $100,000 in savings
and collaborated with Rural Financial
Counselling Service to support local
farmers.

Commenced 2025
Strategic Plan.
Transition to new Customer
Portal and WEX platform.

Further bridge works commenced;
focus on guardrail upgrade sites and
drainage bridge remediation sites; 148
sites completed as at 30 June 2020.
Ongoing until December 2020.

Increase to Fees and Prices Schedule.

Jul
2019

Sep
2019

Aug
2019

Oct
2019

Nov
2019

New CEO (Phil Endley) commenced.
Board approved – Business
Review, Phase One; restructure
and the sale process for MILCast.

Completion of largest Winter Works
program, including remediation of 217
bridges with zero Lost Time Injuries
(LTI).



Home

Chairman's
Report

CEO's
Report

Finance

About
Us

At a
Glance

Resource Distribution release.

Performance
Overview

Advocacy

Key
Activities

Looking
Forward

Governance and
Compliance

Financial
Statements

Notes to
Financials

14 of 72

Key Activities continued

FY20 Key Activities (continued)

Looking Forward

CLICK HERE
for operational and customer updates

CPI increase to Fees and Prices
Schedule for FY21 season.
New Online Customer
Briefing launched.

Federal Minister for Water Keith
Pitt MP appointed.

Unexpected Supplementary
Water event announced.
Start of new mode
of operations.

MILCast sold to Gradian Group.

Feb
2020

Jan
2020

Recorded second consecutive
year of zero Lost Time Injuries –
demonstrating our commitment
to maintaining safety as our
number one priority.

Home
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Apr
2020

Mar
2020

May
2020

World Health Organisation (WHO)
declares COVID-19 a world-wide
pandemic.

Three per cent General Security
allocation announced by DPIE Water.

Most Murray Irrigation staff
redeployed to work from home
amid COVID-19 pandemic.

Winter Works start, focusing on asset
life extension and critical maintenance
works on public bridges.

Application to fixing country
roads for Load Assessments on
public bridges.



Acceleration of Winter Works to
accommodate Supplementary
Water between the Wakool
Offtake and the North Branch
Canal Offtake.
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Key Activities

Looking Forward continued

Looking Forward

The Challenges
Over a period of 20 years, for different reasons, the yield on General Security
entitlements has fallen; there have been roughly 16 years of dry conditions and four
years of wet.
The resulting loss of water has hit the production of crops and reduced regional
wealth. It has also affected Murray Irrigation, with less revenue to cover our costs
over a long period.
There are two needs — first, we must work as a company and community to bring
more water to the region; and second, we must restore financial sustainability,
which is outlined in the finance section.
Across our three strategic objectives, Murray Irrigation identifies that water is at
the heart of our challenges. Acquiring more water is at the core of what we do,
through efficiency, lobbying, and developing new sources through our WaterWell
products.
We recognise that this must be accompanied by financial sustainability to avoid
creating legacy issues for this and future generations of our shareholders. The
Sustainability Product possesses the opportunity to provide efficient water to
customers and generate revenue to ‘close the gap’.
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Looking Forward

Governance and Compliance

Looking Forward
The Board has decided to commit strongly to advocate for more water. We take
a respectful and very firm position in our judgement of what has happened and
the need for change and reform. This work is ongoing and the objectives can
be identified in our Board’s strategy. We are committed to working at all levels
of government to win reform and support regional groups that argue for fair
outcomes.
We have also identified four projects that have been explained in public forums
and to government to bring more water to our shareholders and community.
The projects are developing alongside our advocacy efforts and are often linked.
Work has already commenced.
Our priorities are to:
ö Be efficient through a productive workforce supported by good systems;
ö Build support for water reform that benefits our region through advocacy;
ö Progress the four strategic projects intended to increase water distribution;
ö Engage with customers and their representatives to listen and improve our
services.
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Looking Forward

Governance and Compliance

Governance and Compliance
Executive Profiles

Other Executives

Philip Endley

Scott Barlow

CEO

Phil commenced his role in August
2019 and has worked in the water
sector for three decades in multiple
management roles across Australia
and internationally.
Phil’s experience includes irrigation,
water resources and delivering
change.

Executive General Manager
Infrastructure
Lachlan joined Murray Irrigation
in September 2017. He is an
experienced maintenance and asset
management leader with more than 15
years’ experience across automotive,
manufacturing and mining industries.
Lachlan holds a Bachelor of
Engineering (Mechanical) (Honours)
and a Bachelor of Commerce from the
University of Melbourne.

Home
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Scott commenced at Murray Irrigation
in April 1996. He holds significant
and diverse experience within the bulk
irrigation industry with a background
in both irrigated and mixed dryland
farming, and experience in the forestry
and agricultural sectors.
Scott has an Associate Diploma in
Applied Science and a Diploma in
Project Management.

Lachlan Knight



Executive General Manager
Customer Operations

Finance

Nathan Holahan

Ian Jamieson

Suni Campbell

Chief Financial Officer
Ian commenced with Murray Irrigation
in August 2019. He is a skilled
Finance Executive able to combine
financial expertise with astute
commercial and operational insights.
He has a strong focus on the
achievement of strategic objectives
while balancing attention to detail.
Ian has been a Chartered Accountant
for over 30 years and has a degree in
Accounting and a Graduate Diploma
from the Financial Services Institute of
Australasia.

Company Secretary and
Compliance Manager
Nathan started with Murray Irrigation
in 2012. During this time, he has held
roles in projects, communications and
compliance. Nathan was appointed
Company Secretary in February 2020.
He has a background in journalism
and is currently studying a Bachelor of
Laws.
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Executive General Manager
Business Services
To 17 January 2020

Linda Christesen
Policy Manager
To 10 March 2020

Warren Jose
Executive General Manager
Major Engineering Projects
To 2 August 2019

Jorge Luengas
Acting Executive General
Manager Major Engineering
Projects
From 5 August 2019
to 15 November 2019

Josh Bode
Acting Executive General
Manager Customer Operations
From 1 July 2019 to 2 August 2019
Acting Executive General
Manager MILCast
From 5 August 2019
to 19 March 2020
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Governance and Compliance continued

Financial Statements
Next

Compliance
Murray Irrigation is committed to the long-term sustainability
of its operations and acting in accordance with all applicable
rules, regulations, policies and laws.
The Company has several compliance obligations
associated with the Licences and Approvals issued under
the Water Management Act 2000 (NSW). To satisfy these
requirements, we prepare and submit an Annual Compliance
Report covering the licensed activities. The Annual
Compliance Report, which is available on our website,
includes details of the volume of water extracted and volume
of water delivered to our customers.
Murray Irrigation is also committed to achieving a balance
between environmental responsibility and agricultural
production. For example, the Company holds an
Environment Protection Licence which requires us to monitor
and report the volume and quality of water discharged from
our drainage system. Results of these reports are published
monthly on our website.
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Governance and Compliance
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Directors' Report
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Your Directors present
their report together
with the accounts
of the Consolidated
Entity for the financial
year ended 30 June
2020 and the Auditor’s
report thereon.

Directors
The following people were Directors
of the Company during the financial
year:
ö P.D. Snowden (Chair)
ö N.H. Baxter (Deputy Chair)
effective from 28 Nov 2019
ö C. Filson
ö S.B. Fawns
ö R.T. Gleeson
ö P. Largier
ö D.F. Marples
ö W. Van Beek
Details of each Directors qualification
and experience are set out below:
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Directors' Report (continued)
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Waander Van Beek

Phil Snowden

Noel Baxter

Chair
GAICD

Deputy Chair
Adv Dip Farm Mgt, GAICD

Mr Snowden is a shareholder Director
who was elected to the Board on 28
November 2017. He served as Chair
of the company’s interim Board from
November 2017 to June 2018, before
being elected Chair of the current
Board in June 2018. Mr Snowden
operates a mixed irrigation business
as well as a Hay Cap business near
Tocumwal. He has been associated
with the Berriquin Irrigators’ Council,
Southern Growers, the Australian
Fodder Industry Association and is a
Fellow of the Peter Cullen Trust.

Mr Baxter is a shareholder Director
who was elected to the Board in May
2018. He operates a mixed irrigated
farming business 10 kilometres north
of Berrigan. Mr Baxter is a director
of Baxter Family Farms which also
operates irrigated properties in the
West Corurgan, Coleambally and
Murrumbidgee irrigation areas.

Chairman's
Report

CEO's
Report

Finance

About
Us

At a
Glance

Ryan Gleeson
B. Bus (Acc/Fin), CPA, MAICD

Performance
Overview

Mr Van Beek is a shareholder Director
who was appointed to the Board on
28 November 2017. He has been
an irrigator for more than 40 years
and has mixed farm interests, which
include rice growing. Mr Van Beek
also has significant experience in local
government, spending many years
as a councillor on the Berrigan Shire
Council. He is also Chairman of Cow
Bank Pty Ltd.
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Mr Gleeson is a shareholder Director
who was elected to the Board in
May 2018. He and his family run a
mixed farming operation near Wakool.
Mr Gleeson has over 10 years’
experience as an accountant and
business advisor. In addition to the
family farm, Mr Gleeson also runs
his own business, helping farmers
implement and use farm accounting
software.
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Directors' Report (continued)

Steven Fawns
MAICD
Mr Fawns is a shareholder Director
who was appointed to the Board
in May 2018. He operates a mixed
irrigation business east of Deniliquin.
Mr Fawns is also a government
accredited safety assessor and owns
a local business, which provides
training and assessment in relation
to high risk activities to industry. Mr
Fawns has also served in East Timor
as a UN Peacekeeper and also as an
Antarctic expeditioner. He is active in
community groups including the Rural
Fire Service and the Deniliquin RSL
sub-branch.
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Patrick Largier

Don Marples

Claire Filson

B. Sc (Chem Eng), AMP HBS,
GAICD

B. Com (Acc. & Fin.), M. Com,
FAICD, Senior Fellow FINSIA

MBA, LLB, Grad Dip. App Corp
Gov, MAICD, FGIA, FCG

Mr Largier is an independent Director
who was appointed to the Board in
June 2018. He is an experienced
non-executive director across a
number of industries, including
agricultural businesses. During his
executive career spanning more than
30 years, Mr Largier has worked in
the oil, chemicals and mining sectors
in Australia, the United Kingdom
and South Africa. Mr Largier was
Managing Director of Ludowici
Limited, an ASX-listed global specialist
mining services company. Prior
to this, he spent 15 years with ICI
Australia/Orica in senior executive and
business management roles.

Mr Marples is an independent Director
who was appointed to the Board in
June 2018. He is an experienced
non-executive director in both the
public and private sectors across a
number of industries, including major
infrastructure and water entities NSW
State Water and Wide Bay Water.
Mr Marples held senior roles at Lend
Lease and the Commonwealth Bank.

Ms Filson is an independent Director
who was appointed to the Board in
June 2018. Ms Filson has extensive
industry experience in infrastructure
and property, including utilities (water),
ports, roads, rail and construction,
as well as financial services including
superannuation, insurance and funds
management. Ms Filson brings 20
years’ experience serving on state and
federal government boards, as well
as private sector businesses, chairing
audit, finance, risk, compliance and
remuneration committees.
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Director's interests

Training and professional advice

The relevant interests of the Directors in the share capital, water entitlements (WE),
and delivery entitlements (DE) of the Company, as at 30 June 2020 are as follows:

The Board of Directors has established a minimum standard that all Directors are
required to complete the Company Directors Course provided by the Australian
Institute of Company Directors or equivalent. This training is provided to Directors
elected or appointed to the Board if they have not already completed the course.

Shareholder
Director

Direct
Shares

Indirect
Shares

WE

DE

P.D. Snowden

2,087

467

3,022

2,122

W. Van Beek

3,566

-

2,636

2,933

N.H. Baxter

-

9,990

6,567

8,088

S.B. Fawns

1,298

-

1,054

1,079

R.T. Gleeson

1,400

-

16

410

Where a Director is an authorised representative of a corporate entity, the figures
above include the holdings of that entity.
Non-member Directors in office during the year were: C. Filson, P. Largier and
D.F Marples, who held no Murray Irrigation shares, water entitlements or delivery
entitlements during the financial year.

Directors can seek in connection with their duties and responsibilities as Directors
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense. Prior written approval
of the Chair is required, which will not be unreasonably withheld.

Company Secretaries
The Secretaries of the Company at the end of the reporting period, their
qualifications and experience, is set out below:
N Holahan
(appointed 4 February 2020)
Currently studying for a Bachelor of Law
GIA (Affiliated)
Mr Holahan is the Company Secretary and Compliance Manager. He commenced
employment with the Company in 2012 and has a background in journalism,
communications and compliance.
A Bult
(appointed 24 August 2018)
GIA (Cert)
Ms Bult is the Assistant Company Secretary and Governance Officer.
She commenced employment with the Company in 2008 and has completed a
certificate in Governance Practice through the Governance Institute of Australia.
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Officers

Meetings of Directors

Persons who were Executive Officers of the Company during the
reporting period are:

The following table sets out the number of meetings of the Directors during the
financial year ended 30 June 2020, including meetings of committees, and the
number of meetings attended by Directors.

P Endley

Chief Executive Officer

I Jamieson

Chief Financial Officer

S Barlow

Executive General Manager – Customer Operations

L Knight

Executive General Manager - Infrastructure

N Holahan

Company Secretary and Compliance Manager

A Bult		

Name

Board of
Directors

Audit and risk
management

Remuneration
and nominations

(a)

(b)

(a)

(b)

(a)

(b)

N.H Baxter

9

9

4

4

1

1

S. Fawns

9

9

2

2

2

2

C. Filson

8

9

2

2

3

3

Assistant Company Secretary and Governance Officer

R.T. Gleeson

9

9

4

4

1

1

S Campbell
		

Company Secretary and Executive General Manager –
Business Services (resigned 17 January 2020)

P Largier

8

9

0

0

3

3

D Marples

9

9

4

4

1

1

W Jose
		

Executive General Manager –
Major Engineering Projects (resigned 2 August 2019)

P.D Snowden

9

9

4

4

3

3

W. Van Beek

9

9

0

0

3

3

J Luengas
		

Acting Executive General Manager –
Major Engineering Projects (resigned 15 November 2019)

a. The number of meetings held while the Director held office during the year.
b. The number of meetings attended. Please note that Directors may attend meetings of Committees of
which they are not a formal member, and in these instances, their attendance is also included in the
above.
The composition of the Committees changed effective 28 November 2019.
The Finance, Audit and Risk Committee was renamed the Audit and Risk Management Committee on 4
May 2020.

Principal activity
The principal activity of the Company during the year consisted of the delivery of
water for irrigation and stock and domestic purposes to landholders within an area
from the Murray River to the Billabong Creek extending 150 kilometres to the west
and 100 kilometres to the east of Deniliquin.
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Revenue from contributed assets
Accounting Standard AASB 15 requires that infrastructure works, when
constructed, to the extent to which their cost has been met from government
funding, be treated as revenue of the Company.

The company recorded a profit of $11.8 million for the year.
A total of 88GL of water was delivered to our irrigation customers for the year
ended 30 June 2020, compared to 296GL for the previous financial year.
Revenue from irrigation activities increased by $4.78 million over the prior year.
Revenue from the PIIOP projects was $2.37 million higher than in the previous
financial year. Expenses on materials fell by $1.72 million which was offset by an
increase in depreciation and impairment charges of $1.36 million in comparison to
the prior year. There was a significant change in the income tax expense between
2019 and 2020 of $16.7 million.
The combination of all of the above matters summarises the significant contributing
factors between the profit after tax of $11.8 million for the 2020 year compared to
a loss after tax of $12.7 million for the 2019 year.
A business unit of the Company known as MILCast was sold to a third party
purchaser on 10 February 2020. Details of the financial implications of this
disposal are included in Note 5 of the Financial Statements.
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a novel
coronavirus (COVID-19) as a pandemic, which continues to spread throughout
Australia. The spread of COVID-19 has caused significant volatility in Australian
and international markets. There is significant uncertainty around the breadth and
duration of business disruptions related to COVID-19, as well as its impact on
Australia and international economies and, as such, the Company is unable to
determine if it will have a material impact to its operations. However, to date, there
has been no material effect on the Company’s operations or on the carrying value
of its assets.

Dividends
The Company is a not for profit organisation whose Constitution prohibits it from
paying dividends.

Options
There are no securities under option or in respect of which options have been
created, nor have any options been exercised.

Environmental regulation
The Company holds an Environment Protection Licence issued by the NSW
Environment Protection Authority. The Company is not aware of any breaches of
the licence conditions during the reporting period. Our Annual Compliance Report,
which includes an assessment of compliance with the Company’s Environment
Protection Licence, is available on our website www.murrayirrigation.com.au.

Changes in the state of affairs
In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant changes in the state of
affairs of the Company during the financial year not otherwise disclosed in this
report and the financial statements.

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial
period
Between the end of the financial year and the date of this Directors’ Report, no
events have occurred, which in the opinion of Directors, have the potential to
significantly affect the state of affairs of the Company.
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Likely developments and expected results of
operations

Rounding of amounts to the nearest thousand
dollars

Given the unpredictability of the external factors under which the Company
operates, it is not possible to provide any details in relation to the likely
developments and expected future results of the Company’s operations.

The Company is of a kind referred to in Instrument 2016/191, issued by the
Australian Securities & Investment Commission, relating to the rounding of
amounts in the Directors’ Report and the accompanying financial statements,
which have been rounded off in accordance with that Instrument to the nearest
thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

Indemnification and insurance of officers
The current and former Directors and Company Secretaries of the Company are
indemnified under its Constitution.
The indemnity extends to such other current and former Directors and Company
Secretaries of related bodies corporate of the Company as the Directors of the
Company determine. The indemnity does not extend to actions undertaken in any
period after the relevant person has ceased to hold office.

Auditor’s independence declaration
The Auditor’s Independence Declaration is set out following these financial
statements and forms part of the Directors’ report.
This report is made pursuant to a resolution of the Directors.

The indemnified officers are indemnified on a full indemnity basis and to the full
extent permitted by law against all losses, liabilities, charges and expenses incurred
by the officer as an officer of the Company or of a related body corporate.
The Company has executed deeds of indemnity in favour of certain current and
former Directors of the Company, in each case as permitted under the Company’s
Constitution and the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).
Under the deeds of indemnity, the Company indemnifies each indemnified officer
against any all losses, liabilities, charges and expenses incurred by the officer in
respect of any act or omission during the officer’s appointment period, subject to
section 199A of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

P.D. Snowden
Chair
23 September 2020

N. H. Baxter
Deputy Chair

The deeds in favour of the indemnified officers of the Company also give the
indemnified officers certain rights of access to the Company’s records and require
the Company to maintain insurance cover for each indemnified officer.
During the financial year, the Company paid a premium for insurance indemnifying
the current and former Directors, Company Secretaries and other Officers of the
Company.
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Consolidated

Notes

2020
(’000)

2019
(’000)

Revenue from irrigation undertaking

2

29,523

24,748

Other revenue

2

77

39

Other income

2

12,740

10,308

(13,341)

(13,772)

(5,507)

(7,222)

3(a)

(11,654)

(11,108)

7

(750)

68

(3,026)

(3,167)

8,062

(106)

4,466

(12,267)

12,528

(12,373)

(714)

(364)

11,814

(12,737)

Available for sale financial assets - gains net of tax

-

-

Other comprehensive income for the year

-

-

11,814

(12,737)

12,528

(12,373)

(714)

(364)

11,814

(12,737)

Employee benefit expenses
Materials and contracts expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment of trade and other receivables
Other expenses
Profit/(Loss) before income tax from continuing operations
Income tax (expense)/benefit

4

Profit/(Loss) after income tax for the year from continuing operations
Profit/(Loss) after income tax for the year from discontinued operations

5

Profit/(Loss) after income tax for the year
Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year is attributable to:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

The above Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



Home

Chairman's
Report

CEO's
Report

Finance

About
Us

At a
Glance

Performance
Overview

Advocacy

Key
Activities

Looking
Forward

Governance and
Compliance

Financial
Statements

Notes to
Financials

28 of 72

Back

Next

Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2020

Consolidated

Notes

2020
(’000)

2019
(’000)

6
7
8

22,136
10,656
2,252
35,044

21,615
14,454
2,945
39,014

9
10
11
12

80,289
300,480
5,407
92,412
478,588
513,632

83,228
300,848
6,948
92,412
483,436
522,450

13
14
15

7,727
2,268
9,297
19,292

12,845
2,217
18,764
33,826

16
17

40,595
334
40,929
60,221
453,411

46,600
427
47,027
80,853
441,597

18
19(a)
19(b)

284,723
20,000
148,688
453,411

284,723
20,000
136,874
441,597

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Financial assets
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets
Intangible assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Current liabilities - Other
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Equity
Contributed equity
Reserves
Retained profits
Total equity
The above Consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Consolidated

Contributed equity
$'000

Reserves
$'000

Retained earnings
$'000

Total
$'000

284,723

20,190

149,421

454,334

-

(190)

190

-

284,723

20,000

149,611

454,334

-

-

(12,737)

(12,737)

Balance at 30 June 2019

284,723

20,000

136,874

441,597

Balance at 1 July 2019

284,723

20,000

136,874

441,597

-

-

11,814

11,814

284,723

20,000

148,688

453,411

Balance at 30 June 2018
Adjustment on adoption of AASB 9
Adjusted balance at 1 July 2018
Total comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income
Balance at 30 June 2020

The above Consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Consolidated

Notes

2020
(’000)

2019
(’000)

36,543

40,222

(27,155)

(40,623)

9,388

(401)

332

3,884

Repayment of interest received to government

(793)

-

Net cash inflows from non-core operating activities

(461)

3,884

56,600

6,035

Purchase of financial assets

(51,363)

-

Payment for property, plant and equipment

(14,450)

(25,699)

807

-

(8,406)

(19,664)

-

–

521

(16,181)

21,615

37,796

22,136

21,615

Cash flows from core operating activities
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers and employees
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from operating activities
Cash flows from non-core operating activities
Grants received from government

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale/redemption of financial assets

Proceeds from sale of business unit
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Net cash outflows from financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held
Cash at the beginning on the financial year
6

Cash at the end of the financial year

The above Consolidated cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies

This general purpose financial report covers the consolidated entity of Murray
Irrigation Limited (‘the Company’) and its controlled entity, Riverbank Holdings
Pty Ltd (‘Consolidated Entity’ or ‘Group’). Murray Irrigation Limited is a public
company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.
Because the Company’s principal purpose is to provide cost effective services to
its shareholders, rather than to generate profits, the Company is a not for profit
entity as defined in the Accounting Standards. Accordingly, the Company has
applied the Accounting Standards as they apply to not for profit entities, although it
is also tax assessable.
The following is a summary of the material financial accounting policies that have
been adopted by the Consolidated Entity in the preparation of the financial report.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.
The financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases
specified by Australian Accounting Standards for each type of asset, liability,
income and expense. The measurement bases are more fully described in the
accounting policies below.
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is also the
Consolidated Entity’s functional currency.
(a) New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted
The Group has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that
are mandatory for the current reporting period. Any new or amended Accounting
Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early
adopted.
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The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most relevant to the
Group:

AASB 16 Leases
AASB 16 ‘Leases’ replaces AASB 117 ‘Leases’ and for lessees eliminates
the classification of operating leases and finance leases. Except for short-term
leases and leases of low value assets, right of use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position. Straight line
operating lease expense recognition is replaced with a depreciation charge for
the right of use assets and an interest expense on the recognised lease liabilities
(included in finance expenses). In the earlier periods of the lease, the expenses
associated with the lease under AASB 16 will be higher when compared to lease
expenses under AASB 117. However, EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Tax,
Depreciation and Amortisation) results improve as the operating expense is now
replaced by interest expense and depreciation in profit or loss. For classification
within the statement of cash flows, the interest portion is disclosed in operating
activities and the principal portion of the lease payments are separately disclosed
in financing activities. For lessor accounting, the standard does not substantially
change how a lessor accounts for leases.
The Group has adopted AASB 16 retrospectively from 1 July 2019, but has not
restated comparatives for the 2019 reporting period. On transition, for leases
previously accounted for as operating leases with a remaining lease term of less
than 12 months and for leases of low-value assets the Group has applied the
optional exemptions to not recognise right-of-use assets but to account for the
lease expense on a straight-line basis over the remaining lease term.
The adoption of AASB 16 has not resulted in a material impact to the financial
statements.
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AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
The Group has adopted AASB 15 from 1 July 2019. The standard provides a
single comprehensive model for revenue recognition. The core principle of the
standard is that an entity shall recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
The standard introduced a new contract-based revenue recognition model with
a measurement approach that is based on an allocation of the transaction price.
This is described further in the accounting policies below. Credit risk is presented
separately as an expense rather than adjusted against revenue. Contracts with
customers are presented in an entity's statement of financial position as a contract
liability, a contract asset, or a receivable, depending on the relationship between
the entity's performance and the customer's payment. Customer acquisition costs
and costs to fulfil a contract can, subject to certain criteria, be capitalised as an
asset and amortised over the contract period.
The adoption of AASB 15 has not resulted in a material impact to the financial
statements.

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities
The Group has adopted AASB 1058 from 1 July 2019. The standard replaces
AASB 1004 'Contributions' in respect to income recognition requirements for not
for profit entities. The timing of income recognition under AASB 1058 is dependent
upon whether the transaction gives rise to a liability or other performance obligation
at the time of receipt. Income under the standard is recognised where: an asset is
received in a transaction, such as by way of grant, bequest or donation; there has
either been no consideration transferred, or the consideration paid is significantly
less than the asset's fair value; and where the intention is to principally enable the
entity to further its objectives. For transfers of financial assets to the entity which
enable it to acquire or construct a recognisable non-financial asset, the entity
must recognise a liability amounting to the excess of the fair value of the transfer
received over any related amounts recognised. Related amounts recognised
may relate to contributions by owners, AASB 15 revenue or contract liability
recognised, lease liabilities in accordance with AASB 16, financial instruments
in accordance with AASB 9, or provisions in accordance with AASB 137. The
liability is brought to account as income over the period in which the entity satisfies
its performance obligation. If the transaction does not enable the entity to acquire
or construct a recognisable non-financial asset to be controlled by the entity, then
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any excess of the initial carrying amount of the recognised asset over the related
amounts is recognised as income immediately.
The adoption of AASB 1058 has not resulted in a material impact to the financial
statements.
(b) Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements are general purpose financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure
Requirements and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting
Standards Board.
In the determination of whether an asset or liability is current or non-current,
consideration is given to the time when each asset or liability is expected to be
realised or paid. The asset or liability is classified as current if it is expected to be
turned over within 12 months, or if the Group does not have an unconditional right
to defer settlement of a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.
(c) Income tax
The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s
taxable income based on the notional income tax rate adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements, and to unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at
the tax rates expected to apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities are
settled, based on those tax rates which are currently enacted. The relevant tax
rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary
differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is made for
certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a
liability. No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary
differences if they arose in a transaction that at the time of the transaction did not
affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and
unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available
to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset tax assets and liabilities. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle
on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Current
and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are
also recognised directly in equity.
(d) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:
(i) Water sales

Accounting policy for the year ended 30 June 2020
Revenue from the sale of water is recognised when the performance obligation
has been satisfied, which is when the water has been delivered to the customer.
All water usage measurement is completed before the end of the financial year, as
the ‘irrigation season’ generally concludes in May. Fixed access and other fees are
recognised on a pro-rata basis throughout the year.
Accounting policy for the year ended 30 June 2019
Revenue from the sale of water is recognised when the water is delivered to
customers. All water usage measurement is completed before the end of the
financial year, as the ‘irrigation season’ generally concludes in May. Fixed access
and other fees are recognised on a pro-rata basis throughout the year.
(ii) Recognition of revenue arising from contributed assets

Accounting policy for the year ended 30 June 2020
The Company is the implementing authority in respect of a number of Land and
Water Management Plans. Expenditure on these plans was reimbursed to the
Company by the NSW State Government, the Commonwealth Government,
relevant local government authorities and irrigation customer shareholders. Levies
received from irrigation customer shareholders are considered to be payments for
services performed, primarily for maintenance of drainage assets. In accordance
with AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, when the outcome of a
transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue
associated with the transaction shall be recognised by reference to the stage of
completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting period. Where there is
an obligation to provide these drainage maintenance services at reporting date,
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revenue has been deferred in accordance with AASB 15 (refer note 15). Revenue
arising from the contribution of an asset to the Company is recognised when the
performance obligation has been satisfied which is when the entity obtains control
of the contribution or the right to receive the contribution, it is probable that the
economic benefits comprising the contribution will flow to the company, and the
amount of the contribution can be measured reliably. The entity does not obtain
control of a contribution under such an agreement until it has met conditions
or provided services or facilities that make it eligible to receive a contribution.
Revenue is therefore deferred until such conditions have been met.

Accounting policy for the year ended 30 June 2019
The Company is the implementing authority in respect of a number of Land and
Water Management Plans. Expenditure on these plans was reimbursed to the
Company by the NSW State Government, the Commonwealth Government,
relevant local government authorities and irrigation customer shareholders. Levies
received from irrigation customer shareholders are considered to be payments for
services performed, primarily for maintenance of drainage assets. In accordance
with AASB 118 Revenue, when the outcome of a transaction involving the
rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with the
transaction shall be recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the
transaction at the end of the reporting period.
Where there is an obligation to provide these drainage maintenance services at
reporting date, revenue has been deferred in accordance with AASB 118 (refer
note 15). Amounts received from government bodies are defined as a contribution
and are accounted for under AASB 1004 Contributions. Income arising from the
contribution of an asset to the Company is recognised when the entity obtains
control of the contribution or the right to receive the contribution, it is probable that
the economic benefits comprising the contribution will flow to the Company, and
the amount of the contribution can be measured reliably. The entity does not obtain
control of a contribution under such an agreement until it has met conditions or
provided services or facilities that make it eligible to receive a contribution. Income
is therefore deferred until such conditions have been met.
(iii) On-Farm Irrigation Efficiency Program
The Company was contracted as a delivery partner for implementation of the
Commonwealth Government funded On-Farm Irrigation Efficiency Program. The
Commonwealth of Australia had a Funding Agreement with the Company and
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a contract for the purchase of Water Entitlements with the landholder. These
arrangements with the Commonwealth Government were terminated on 20 June
2019.
Prior to the termination of the arrangements, the Company had contracted with
certain landholders to complete water efficiency investments on their landholding.
The Company’s role was to ensure that funds from government are spent in
accordance with the Funding Agreement, the funds are received by the Company
and then paid to the landholders as their projects meet the funding criteria in their
agreements.
As the Company was considered to be acting as the agent in this program, gross
revenue and expenditure relating to the funds received from the government and
distributed to proponent landholders is not recognised by the Company. Funds
received and unspent are held in bank accounts controlled by the Company.
There are no unspent funds as at 30 June 2020. The Company’s administration
costs were reimbursed from program funds and were recognised as revenue as
administration services are provided.
(iv) Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program (‘PIIOP’)
During 2013, the Company and the then Department of Sustainability, Environment,
Water, Population and Communities (representing the Commonwealth)
(‘the Department’) entered into the PIIOP Round 2 Funding Agreement for
implementation of the Company’s PIIOP project. In December 2016, the Company
and the Department of Agriculture (representing the Commonwealth) (‘the
Department’) entered into the Round 3 of PIIOP (PIIOP Round 3).
Broadly, these Funding Agreements can be attributed to three categories:
ö Payments to be made to landholders to surrender their Irrigation Rights;
ö Payments to the Company to surrender Conveyance Water Access
Entitlements; and
ö Amounts to be spent on new capital works to improve the water infrastructure of
the Company.
For the portion of the grants relating to payments to be made to landholders,
the Company’s role was to ensure that irrigation rights were surrendered in
accordance with the Funding Agreement. The funds were received by the
Company and were paid to the landholders as their water rights were surrendered
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and they met the funding criteria in their agreements.
As the Company was considered to be acting as the agent in this component of
the program, gross revenue and expenditure relating to the funds received from
the government and distributed to proponent landholders was not recognised by
the Company. In relation to funds received and unspent which were held in bank
accounts controlled by the Company, a corresponding liability was recognised
as disclosed in note 15. The Company did not hold any such funds as at 30 June
2020.
In relation to the Company’s surrender of Conveyance Water Access Entitlements
(water rights), there were no specific obligations (other than transfer to the
Commonwealth of the relevant water access licences) or spending requirements
attached to this portion of the grants. Accordingly, these funds were recognised as
they are received, and the water licences were surrendered.
Funding relating to capital works was allocated to specific projects and milestones
which were to be completed by the Company. Under the terms of the Funding
Agreement, the Commonwealth required the return of funding that has not been
spent or had not been legally and irrevocably committed for expenditure, in
accordance with the Funding Agreement, or had not been appropriately dealt with
under the terms of the Funding Agreement.
In relation to the Government contributions for PIIOP Round 2, contributions
received from the government for infrastructure improvements were recognised
as income as the relevant expenditure was incurred. As the Consolidated Entity
was obliged under the terms of the funding agreement to undertake the relevant
infrastructure works or refund the money, any unexpended funds at balance date
were brought to account as a liability. The Company did not hold any such funds as
at 30 June 2020.
As regards the Government contributions for PIIOP Round 3, contributions
received from the Government for infrastructure improvements was recognised
as income on a percentage of completion basis, as the relevant expenditure
was incurred and when water entitlements were returned. As this arrangement
constitutes a bundled contract, income relating to each element was recognised
proportional to their fair value at contract date as if they were sold independently
of each other. As the Company was obliged under the terms of the funding
agreement to undertake the relevant infrastructure works or refund the money,
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any unexpended funds, equivalent to any unperformed work, at balance date was
brought to account as a liability. The Company did not hold any such funds as at
30 June 2020.
A Deed of Variation 7 for PIIOP Round 2 was executed on 18 November 2019
and on 7 May 2020 the Commonwealth confirmed that the company had satisfied
all obligations under the funding agreement which signified the completion of the
Company’s participation in the PIIOP Round 2 Program.

(ix) Sustainability Products
Revenue from the sale of water from the Sustainability Product initiative is
recognised when the water is allocated to a customer.

(v) Interest income

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other shortterm highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

(vi) Revenue from the sale of assets

Accounting policy for the year ended 30 June 2020
Revenue from the sale of fixed assets is recognised when the performance
obligation has been satisfied which is when the control of the assets has been
passed to the buyer.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

(f) Trade and other receivables

(vii) Termination fees

Trade receivables are measured on initial recognition at fair value and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method. Amortised cost is the total receivable less any amounts received and
impairment losses. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts
are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is
impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the amount expected to be recovered.

Termination fees are calculated and charged at the time an application is made for
delivery entitlements to be terminated.

Refer to note 1 (ab) for further information in regard to the Group’s estimate of the
recoverable amount of debtors.

(viii) Sale of goods

(g) Interest on Water Debtors accounts

Accounting policy for the year ended 30 June 2019
Revenue from the sale of fixed assets is recognised when risks and rewards have
been passed to the buyer.

Accounting policy for the year ended 30 June 2020
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the performance obligation has
been satisfied which is upon delivery of the goods to the customers and associated
risks of ownership have passed. All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods
and services tax (GST), returns, trade allowances and other duties and taxes paid.

Home

Accounting policy for the year ended 30 June 2019
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised upon delivery of the goods to the
customers and when control of the product is transferred to the customer. All
revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), returns, trade
allowances and other duties and taxes paid.

A Deed of Variation and Mutual Termination for PIIOP Round 3 was executed on 7
February 2020 and this signified the completion of the Company’s participation in
the PIIOP Round 3 Program.

Interest income is recognised when earned.
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Interest is charged on water customers’ accounts which are overdue and outside
of the normal credit arrangements.
(h) Inventories
Raw materials and stores are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
As the Company is a not-for-profit entity, it considers the remaining service
potential of inventories when assessing the net realisable value of items held for
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distribution or use in delivering a service to members. The cost of manufactured
products includes direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate portion of
variable and fixed overheads. Costs are assigned on the basis of weighted average
costs.

items, except for impairment of trade receivables, which is presented within other
expenses.

(i) Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following
conditions (and are not designated as FVPL):

(i) Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition
Financial assets are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument, and are measured initially at fair
value adjusted by transactions costs, except for those carried at fair value through
profit or loss, which are measured initially at fair value. Subsequent measurement
of financial assets are described below.
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and all substantial
risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is
extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.
(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component and are measured at the transaction price, all financial assets are
initially measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable).
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets other than those
designated and effective as hedging instruments are classified into the following
categories upon initial recognition:
ö
ö
ö
ö

amortised cost
fair value through profit or loss (‘FVPL’)
equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVOCI’)
debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVOCI’)

Classifications are determined by both the entities business model for managing
the financial asset and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
assets.
All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit
or loss are presented within finance costs, finance income or other financial
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(iii) Subsequent measurement financial assets

ö they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial
assets and collect its contractual cash flows
ö the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is
immaterial. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other
receivables fall into this category of financial instruments as well as government
bonds that were previously classified as held-to-maturity under AASB 139.

Financial assets at FVPL:
Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than ‘hold to
collect’ or ‘hold to collect and sell’ are categorised at fair value through profit and
loss. Further, irrespective of business model financial assets whose contractual
cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest are accounted for at
FVPL. All derivative financial instruments fall into this category, except for those
designated and effective as hedging instruments, for which the hedge accounting
requirements apply.
Impairment of financial assets:
The ‘expected credit loss’ (‘ECL’) model applies to loans and other debt-type
financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI, trade receivables, loan
commitments and some financial guarantee contracts (for the issuer) that are not
measured at fair value through profit or loss.
The Group considers a broad range of information when assessing credit risk
and measuring expected credit losses, including past events, current conditions,
reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the
future cash flows of the instrument.
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In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between financial
instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition or that have low credit risk (‘Stage 1’) and financial instruments that
have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition and whose
credit risk is not low (‘Stage 2’).

Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument.

Trade and other receivables and contract assets
The Group makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and
other receivables as well as contract assets and records the loss allowance at
the amount equal to the expected lifetime credit losses. In using the practical
expedient, the Group uses its historical experience, external indicators and
forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit losses using a
provision matrix.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on all infrastructure assets, buildings, plant,
equipment and other non-current physical assets is calculated using the straightline method to allocate their costs or re-valued amounts, net of their residual
values, over their estimated remaining useful lives, commencing from the time the
asset is held ready for use. The asset residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. Estimates of remaining useful
lives are made on a periodic basis for all assets.

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable,
adjusted for transaction costs unless the Group designated a financial liability at
fair value through profit or loss.

The expected useful lives are as follows:

‘12-month expected credit losses’ are recognised for the first category while
‘lifetime expected credit losses’ are recognised for the second category.

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method except for derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVPL,
which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss (other than derivative financial instruments that are designated and
effective as hedging instruments).
All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair
value that are reported in profit or loss are included within finance costs or finance
income.

Home

(j) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment represent non-current assets comprising land,
buildings, infrastructure for the supply and drainage of water, plant, motor vehicles,
radio technology, office and computer equipment, and land leased from State or
Local Government over or under which water infrastructure is located. All property,
plant and equipment with a cost value in excess of $1,000 and a useful life of
more than one year are recognised as an asset; all other assets acquired are
expensed. Values are recorded at historical cost less depreciation. Acquisition cost
is determined as the fair value of the assets given up or liabilities undertaken at the
date of acquisition plus costs incidental to the acquisition. As the Company is a not
for profit entity, where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, the
cost is its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

‘Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment
at the reporting date.
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Water infrastructure

10 to 100 years

Leased assets

40 to 100 years

Buildings

40 years

Plant and equipment

8 to 10 years

Office equipment

3 to 14 years

Motor vehicles

2 to 5 years

(k) Leased assets

Accounting policy applicable from 1 July 2019
As described in Note 1(a), the Group has applied AASB 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and therefore comparative information has not been
restated.
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For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 July 2019, the Group considers
whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or
part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for
a period of time in exchange for consideration’. To apply this definition the Group
assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are whether:
ö the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the
contract or implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made
available to the Group;

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments
made and increased for interest. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or
modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.
When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in
the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced
to zero.

ö the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the
period of use. The Group assesses whether it has the right to direct ‘how and
for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low value
assets using the practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right of use asset
and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the lease term.

The Group depreciates the right of use assets on a straight line basis from the
lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right of
use asset or the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right of use
asset for impairment when such indicators exist.
On 28 June 1995, the Company entered into 99 year leases for land in both the
Jerilderie and Berrigan council areas. As the leases were deemed below market
value, the Company has adopted the amendments made to AASB 16 and AASB
1058 which allows for these leases to be recognised at cost rather than market
value.
At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present
value of the lease payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate.

Home

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of
fixed payments (including in substance fixed), variable payments based on an index
or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and
payments arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised.

ö the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from
use of the identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights
within the defined scope of the contract; and

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right of use asset and a
lease liability on the balance sheet. The right of use asset is measured at cost,
which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct
costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove
the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the
lease commencement date (net of any incentives received).
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Accounting policy applicable to prior year
Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of the asset, but not the legal ownership, that are transferred
to the Group are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at
the inception of the lease by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the
amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the
minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values.
Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the
lease interest expense. The interest expense is recognised in the profit or loss so
as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability outstanding.
Leased assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the shorter of the
asset's useful life and the lease term.
All other lease are classified as operating leases. Lease payments for operating
leases, where substantially all the risks and rewards remain with the lessor, are
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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(l) Non-current assets constructed by the Company
Where assets are constructed by the Company, the cost at which they are
recorded includes all materials used in construction, direct labour on the project,
and an appropriate share of other directly attributable costs, such as design and
project management.
(m) Intangible assets
Water licences held by the Company are recognised at cost less impairment
losses. Water rights have an indefinite useful life, and are thus not subject to
amortisation, but are tested for impairment by comparing their recoverable amount
with their carrying amount.
(n) Impairment of assets
Assets are reviewed annually for impairment, or whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount.
As the Company is a not for profit entity and the future economic benefits of the
Group’s assets is not primarily dependent on their ability to generate cash flows,
value in use is taken to be the current replacement cost of the asset, provided that
the Group would, if deprived of the asset, replace it.
The Group’s non-current assets may be carried at amounts significantly in excess
of the values that would be applied if it were a ‘for profit’ entity in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards and had applied the impairment rules of a ‘for
profit’ entity.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are reviewed annually as to whether
their carrying value exceeds their recoverable amount.
In addition, the PIIOP programs had created an expectation that certain of the
Company’s capital assets will be replaced, decommissioned or handed over to
the landholders in future years. Where the Company has been able to make a
reasonable estimate of such items, the carrying amount of the relevant assets has
been reduced to their recoverable amount. That reduction in the carrying value of
the asset was recognised as an impairment loss through profit and loss.
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(o) Maintenance and repairs
Maintenance, repair costs and minor renewals are charged as expenses are
incurred on the basis that asset lives are being preserved to expectation, rather
than extended. Where the repair relates to the replacement of a component of an
asset and the cost exceeds the capitalisation threshold, the cost is capitalised and
amortised.
(p) Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group
up to the reporting date which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are
usually paid within 28 days of recognition.
(q) Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated
GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation
Office. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset
or as part of the expense. Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the
amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from,
or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office is included with other receivables
or payables in the balance sheet. Cash flows are presented on a gross basis,
inclusive of GST. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing
or financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the Australian
Taxation Office are presented as operating cash flows.
(r) Employee benefits
(i) Wages, salaries, superannuation, annual leave and sick leave
Provision is made for the Group’s liability for employee benefits arising from
services rendered by employees to reporting date. Employee benefits that are
expected to be settled within one year have been measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liability is settled, plus related on costs. Employee
benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of
the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits.
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All employees belong to a defined contribution superannuation scheme.
Contributions to these defined contribution superannuation schemes are
recognised as an expense in the period that they are payable. The amount
charged represents the contributions made by the Group to the superannuation
plan in respect to the current services of Group directors and employees. The
contributions are based on the choice of plans made by each employee and the
relevant rules of each plan.
Employees are entitled to 10 days personal leave per annum on a cumulative basis
for either personal illness or primary care of immediate family. No liability is brought
to account as the expected future payments are unlikely to exceed the personal
leave entitlements.
(ii) Long service leave
Current liability – unconditional long service leave (representing 10 or more years
of continuous service) is disclosed as a current liability even where the Group
does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it does not have an
unconditional right to defer the settlement should an employee take leave within 12
months. The components of this current liability are measured at:
ö Present value – component that the Group does not expect to settle within 12
months; and
ö Nominal value – component that the Group expects to settle within 12 months.
Non-current liability – conditional long service leave (representing less than 10
years of continuous service) is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement until the employee has
completed the requisite years of service. Conditional long service leave is required
to be measured at present value. In calculating present value, pro rata years of
service utilising current salary and wage rates are calculated, and indexed using
the Australian Bureau of Statistics Wage Price Index.
Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date
on high quality corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that match,
as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
(s) Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present
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obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date,
including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Where
there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be
required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. Provisions are discounted to their present values, where the time value of
money is material.
Any reimbursement that the Group can be virtually certain to collect from a third
party with respect to the obligation is recognised as a separate asset. However,
this asset may not exceed the amount of the related provision.
No liability is recognised if an outflow of economic resources is not probable. Such
situations are disclosed as contingent liabilities, unless the outflow of resources is
remote in which case no liability is recognised.
(t) Reserves
The Constitution allows that the Directors may set aside financial reserve accounts
to be applied at the discretion of the Directors for any purpose to which the
reserves may be applied, subject to satisfying the requirements of the Operating
Licence issued by the New South Wales State Government.
(i) H20 Fund
The purpose of the H20 Fund is to set aside funds for future investment in
water related products and services. The source of funds was from the sale of a
proportion of the Murray Irrigation Limited Supplementary Water Access Licence.
(u) Website and information technology costs
Costs in relation to website development and maintenance are recognised
as expenses in the period in which they are incurred, unless they relate to the
acquisition of an asset, in which case they are capitalised and amortised over the
period of expected benefits. The Company considers that its website does not give
rise to sufficient identifying value or costs to be regarded as an Intangible Asset
under AASB 138.
Information Technology costs including hardware and software generally relate to
acquisition of assets of different useful lives, and are capitalised and amortised.
Costs in relation to feasibility studies or business process reviews leading
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to specifications forming part of subsequent technology implementation are
considered as expenses. Costs in relation to building or enhancing Information
Technology, to the extent that they represent probable future economic benefits
controlled by the Group that can be reliably measured, are capitalised as an asset
and amortised over the period of expected benefits.
(v) Rounding of amounts
The Consolidated Entity is of a kind referred to in Instrument 2016/191, issued
by the Australian Securities & Investments Commission, relating to the “rounding
off” of amounts in the financial report. Amounts in the financial report have been
rounded off in accordance with that Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars.

2019 per the issued
financial statements in
prior period
$‘000

Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies applied are consistent with those
of prior years.
Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified for consistency with
current year disclosures. In particular, the sale of the MILCast business during
the year has caused the reclassification of revenue and expenses related to this
discontinued operation (Note 5) and the adoption of AASB 15 has resulted in
bulk water charges that are passed onto landholders being netted against the
associated revenue.
A reconciliation to demonstrate the changes that have been made to the 2019
comparative figures is provided below:

Adjustment for: Adjustment to present Adjustment to revenue
2019 MILCast results
2019 revenue net of classification in line with
(refer note 5)
bulk water costs
AASB 15
$‘000
$‘000
$‘000

2019 adjusted
balances
$‘000

29,707

-

(4,683)

(276)

24,748

Other revenue

14,994

(4,627)

-

(10,328)

39

Other income

-

-

-

10,308

10,308

Employee benefits expenses

(14,457)

687

-

-

(13,772)

Materials and contracts expenses

(11,173)

3,952

-

-

(7,222)

Depreciation and amortisation

(11,230)

122

-

-

(11,108)

-

-

-

-

-

(4,683)

-

4,683

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(3,628)

233

-

(296)

(3,099)

(470)

364

-

-

(106)

Income tax (expense)/benefit

(12,267)

-

-

-

(12,267)

Profit/(Loss) after income tax for the year

(12,737)

364

-

-

(12,373)

Bulk water supply expenses
Finance expenses
Other expenses
Profit/(Loss) before income tax

Home

(w) Comparatives

Revenue from irrigation undertaking

Impairment of water infrastructure assets
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A former business unit of the Company known as MILCast is considered to be a
discontinued operation as it was sold to a third party on 10 February 2020.

(x) Dividend policy
Under the Company’s Constitution, the Company is prevented from paying
dividends.

(ab) Critical judgements and significant accounting estimates

(y) Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary of Murray Irrigation Limited (‘parent entity’) as at 30 June 2020 and the
results of the subsidiary for the year then ended. Murray Irrigation Limited and its
subsidiary are referred to in this financial report as the ‘Consolidated Entity’ or
‘Group. The parent entity controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the subsidiary. The subsidiary is listed in Note
25. The subsidiary has a 30 June financial year end.
All intercompany balances and transactions between entities in the Consolidated
Entity have been eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised gains and losses
on transactions between Group entities. Where unrealised losses on intra-group
asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for
impairment from a Group perspective. Accounting policies of the subsidiary have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with those policies adopted
by the Consolidated Entity.
(z) Segment reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing
services that are subject to risk and returns that are different to those of other
business segments. Refer note 26.
(aa) Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that has been disposed
of or is classified as held for sale and that represents a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single co-ordinated plan
to dispose of such a line of business or area of operations, or is a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The results of discontinued operations
are presented separately on the face of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting
Standards requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. The Company
applies its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance date, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
during the next financial year.
Assessment of Impairment
In assessing impairment, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of each
asset or cash-generating unit based on the current replacement cost of the assets
in the relevant cash-generating unit. Estimation uncertainty relates to assumptions
about the replacement cost of the asset and its depreciated balance based on the
useful life of the asset.
Recoverable amount of receivables
The Group has made an estimate of the recoverable amount of all receivables. This
estimate requires the use of assumptions and a considerable degree of uncertainty
exists. The Group has various receivables from customers, largely relating to
water accounts, and those relating to the Water Bank operations. The Group has
specifically identified all debtor balances that are considered to be doubtful based
on the historical record of repayments, status of the account and other factors at
year end.
The Group has assumed that the full amount of those particular loans is not
recoverable, limited to the extent described below. The Group holds security over
these debtors in the form of the water entitlements held by irrigator customers. The
value of these impaired debtors is therefore only reduced by the fair value of the
security held, as this is considered to be the amount recoverable by the Group.
Where the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, the difference
is recognised as an expense in profit or loss. Where impairment losses are
subsequently reversed they are recognised as a reversal of impairment loss in the
profit and loss.
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Estimates of remaining useful lives of PPE
Estimates of remaining useful lives are made on a periodic basis for all assets.
These reassessments require the Group to make significant estimates and
assumptions in respect of its intentions for certain assets, based on the broader
strategic plan and specific funded projects that are in place at reporting date.
Should these plans not eventuate or be completed to a different timeframe than
initially anticipated, useful lives of some assets, and therefore carrying value, may
be significantly different than initially estimated.
As a result of PIIOP Round 2 and PIIOP Round 3 funding, a significant number
of assets have been replaced or removed. A provision was created, at the
commencement of both programs, to provide for the expected impairment of these
assets.
The Company is in the process of analysing the remaining provision as at 30 June
2020 and anticipates that its considerations in relation to the provision will be
completed by 30 June 2021.
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2. Revenue
Revenue from irrigation undertaking
Revenue from water sales **
Revenue from Sustainability Products
Revenue from water sales – government recoveries
Termination fees *
Revenue from irrigation undertaking
Other revenue
MILCast external sales
Government funding – On Farm Irrigation Efficiency Program
Other revenue
Other income
Government funding – sale of conveyance water PIIOP Round 2
Government funding – water infrastructure assets PIIOP Round 2
Government funding – sale of conveyance water PIIOP Round 3
Government funding – water infrastructure assets PIIOP Round 3
Government funding – Office of Environment and Heritage
Infrastructure – contributed assets
Interest received
Gain/(Loss) on sale of investments
JobKeeper and Cash Flow Boost
WEX and registry charges
Other income
Total other income
Total revenue / income
* In 2020 there was one termination as well as a credit note raised in relation to a termination fee from the
2019 year which together represent the negative $8k shown above.
** The 2019 number in relation to revenue from water sales is reflected differently to how it was presented in
the financial statements issued in the 2019 year. Due to the introduction of AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts
with Customers, the revenue from water sales is now required to be shown net of the bulk water charges. The
bulk water charges were shown on a separate line in the Consolidated statement of profit of loss and other
comprehensive income in the financial statements issued in relation to the 2019 year. In addition to this, the
WEX and registry charges have been shown on a separate line this year. A reconciliation of the 2019 numbers
is shown here:
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2020
$’000

2019
$’000

12,107
9,372
8,052
(8)
29,523

12,224
3,421
8,802
301
24,748

77
77

39
39

2,364
5,648
746
162
2,590
332
478
420
12,740
42,339

854
4,787
289
2,416
(16)
275
1,703
10,308
35,095
2019 $’000

Income from water sales per 2019 financial statements

17,183

Bulk water charges per 2019 financial statements

(4,684)

WEX and registry charges relating to 2019 shown separately
2019 net revenue from water sales
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3. Expenses
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

58

47

480

302

1,418

1,218

258

302

8,545

8,607

10,759

10,476

895

632

11,654

11,108

73

122

11,727

11,230

– assets identified to be replaced, scrapped or handed over in future periods - PIIOP Round 2

1,203

4,212

– assets identified to be replaced, scrapped or handed over in future periods - PIIOP Round 3

2,355

2,355

– assets estimated to be replaced, scrapped or handed over in future periods - PIIOP Round 2

425

1,028

66,205

66,579

70,188

74,174

858

943

Profit before income tax includes the following specific expenses:
(a) Depreciation and amortisation:
Depreciation:
Buildings
Plant and equipment
Office equipment
Motor vehicles
Water infrastructure
Total depreciation
Amortisation of leased assets
Total depreciation and amortisation from continuing operations
Depreciation expense from discontinued operations
Total depreciation and amortisation expense
(b) Impairment of water infrastructure assets
The Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program (PIIOP) had created an expectation that a
portion of the Company’s water infrastructure assets will be replaced, decommissioned or handed over
to customers in future years.

– Impairment of water infrastructure assets
(c) Employee benefit expenses capitalised
Salaries and wages capitalised
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4. Income Taxes
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

-

3,764

(4,466)

12,267

-

(3,764)

(4,466)

12,267

1,541

(494)

(6,007)

12,761

(4,466)

12,267

(4,466)

12,267

-

-

(4,466)

12,267

Current tax
Deferred tax (i) and (ii)
(Over) / under provision in prior year
Aggregate income tax expense
(i) Deferred tax comprises:
(Increase)/Decrease in deferred tax assets
Increase/(Decrease) in deferred tax liabilities
(ii) (Increase)/decrease in deferred tax represented by:
Income tax (benefit)/expense
Other comprehensive income
Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax (benefit)/expense:
The aggregate amount of income tax attributable to the financial year differs from the amount calculated on the operating profit:
The differences are reconciled as follows:
Net profit before income tax

8,062

(470)

Income tax expense calculated @ 27.5% (2019:30%)

2,217

(141)

126

204

(650)

(256)

(91)

(8,027)

(6,608)

-

540

(283)

-

(3,764)

(4,466)

(12,267)

Non-deductible expenditure
Non-assessable income (government funding)
Carried forward tax loss not recognised
Adjustment to deferred tax balances as a result of a change in the statutory tax rate
Other non-assessable amounts
(Over) / under provision in prior year

For tax purposes, the Company elected to treat PIIOP Round 2 as non-assessable, non-exempt (NANE) income. By electing to have PIIOP Round 2 revenue classified as NANE revenue, no income from this
program is assessable and no associated expenses including depreciation on PIIOP 2 assets, is deductible for tax.
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5. Discontinued operations
Description
The MILCast business unit was sold to a third party on 10 February 2020. The Company no longer receives any revenue and has not incurred any expenses in relation to
MILCast since the date of sale and therefore the business is considered discontinued.
As a result of MILCast being classified as a ‘discontinued operation’, the results of MILCast have been classified on the discontinued operations line in the statement of
profit and loss and other comprehensive income. This has resulted in some amounts from the 2019 financial statements being reclassified.

Financial performance information for MILCast

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

1,308

4,621

2

6

(536)

(684)

(1,471)

(3,952)

(73)

(122)

56

(233)

(714)

(364)

-

-

(714)

(364)

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

Net cash used in operating activities

(621)

851

Net cash used in investing activities

78

(103)

Net cash used in financing activities

(1,228)

(569)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations

(1,771)

179

Revenue
Interest received
Employee benefits expenses
Materials and contracts expenses
Depreciation
Other expenses
Profit/(Loss) before income tax
Income tax (expense)/benefit
Profit/(Loss) after income from discontinued operations

Cash flow information of MILCast
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6. Current assets – cash and cash equivalents
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

22,136

21,615

On-Farm Irrigation Efficiency Program (OFIEP)

-

166

Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program (PIIOP) Round 2

-

1,770

Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program (PIIOP) Round 3

-

10,985

5,029

98

17,107

8,596

22,136

21,615

Cash at bank and on hand:
Restrictions are imposed on access to certain of the above funds as follows:

AMRR
Unrestricted funds
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7. Current assets – trade and other receivables
Water debtors

8,687

8,408

Less allowance for expected credit losses - Murray Irrigation

(882)

(132)

7,805

8,276

48

725

(25)

(25)

23

700

7

581

2,821

4,897

10,656

14,454

MILCast debtors
Less allowance for expected credit losses - MILCast
Accrued income
Other receivables and prepayments

a) Water debtors are invoiced four times per year: 30 September, 31 December, 31 March and 30 June. Payment terms are 30 days after the date of issue of the invoice. Interest is calculated at the rate
stipulated in the New South Wales Water Management Act 2000 and accumulates on overdue balances.
b) MILCast debtors are invoiced on delivery of goods with payment due on 30 day terms.

Reconciliation of allowance for expected credit losses
Balance as at 1 July

157

226

Amounts charged/(written back)

750

(69)

Balance as at 30 June

907

157

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

-

849

2,252

2,171

-

(75)

2,252

2,945

8. Current assets – inventories

MILCast inventories
Consumables
Less provision for obsolescence - general
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9. Non-current assets – financial assets
Managed Funds

80,289

83,228

80,289

83,228

37,167

36,166

9,105

8,812

34,017

38,250

80,289

83,228

Restrictions are imposed on access to parts of the above funds as follows:
Asset maintenance and renewals
Land and Water Management Plans
Unrestricted financial assets

The movement in the Non-Current assets – financial assets as regards the Asset maintenance and renewals balance for 2020 is as follows:

Opening Balance 1 July 2019

36,166

Less: Withdrawals

(37,738)

Add: Purchases/reinvestments

37,208

Plus: Distributions and revaluations

1,531

Closing Balance 30 June 2020

37,167

Note 6 relating to Current Assets – Cash and cash equivalents shows that the Asset maintenance and renewals balance for 2020 increased from $98k to $5,029k.
The Company has allocated certain funds for the acquisition of permanent water entitlements during the next financial year. Accordingly, $5 million has been redeemed from the H2O Fund during the 2020 year
and was deposited into the Company’s operational bank account to allow the Company to execute this strategic initiative. This redemption contributed to a reduction in the balance of Non-current – financial assets
compared to the previous year.
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10. Non-current assets, property plant and equipment
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

2,005

2,005

425,215

414,831

(109,428)

(104,217)

(70,188)

(74,174)

245,599

236,440

Construction in progress

4,198

16,767

Leased assets – at cost

58,129

52,806

(17,632)

(16,897)

40,497

35,909

3,588

3,499

(1,204)

(1,132)

2,384

2,367

8,605

11,374

(5,055)

(7,030)

3,550

4,344

7,106

6,714

(5,128)

(3,721)

1,978

2,993

1,596

1,917

(1,327)

(1,894)

269

23

300,480

300,848

Freehold land – at cost
Water infrastructure
Less accumulated depreciation
Less provision for impairment

Less accumulated amortisation
Buildings and cottages – at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Plant and equipment – at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Office equipment – at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Motor vehicles – at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
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10. Non-current assets, property plant and equipment cont'd
Carrying amount
at 1 July 2019
$’000

Additions
$’000

2,005

-

-

-

-

-

2,005

236,440

2,411

(95)

(8,545)

15,388

-

245,599

Construction in progress

16,767

4,867

(2,048)

-

(15,388)

-

4,198

Leased assets

35,909

5,630

(147)

(895)

-

-

40,497

Buildings

2,367

89

-

(72)

-

-

2,384

Plant and equipment

4,344

469

(734)

(529)

-

-

3,550

Office equipment

2,993

417

(12)

(1,420)

-

-

1,978

23

567

(55)

(266)

-

-

269

300,848

14,450

(3,091)

(11,727)

-

-

300,480

Land
Water Infrastructure

Motor vehicles

Disposals Depreciation
$’000
$’000

Carrying amount
Impairment at 30 June 2020
$’000
$’000

Transfers
$’000

11. Non-current assets – deferred tax assets
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

2,180

2,541

Employee benefits

631

756

Doubtful debts

227

47

Business related capital expenditure

1,109

2,063

Carried forward tax losses

1,232

1,478

28

63

5,407

6,948

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Amounts recognised in profit or loss:
Land and Water Management Plans

Other temporary differences

Tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation.
Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of tax losses to the extent that future taxable profits are reasonably expected in which the Group can utilise such benefits.
The total value of carried forward tax losses as at 30 June 2020 is $39,821,452 (2019: $39,551,166).
Deferred tax assets have been measured at the corporate tax rate enacted and applying when the temporary differences are expected to reverse. For the 2020 year the tax rate used is 25% (2019: 30%).
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12. Non-current assets – intangible assets
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

Conveyance Water Access Licence at cost (a)

81,101

81,101

Supplementary Water Access Licence at cost (b)

11,311

11,311

92,412

92,412

Reconciliation of movement in intangible assets
Balance at 1 July

Conveyance
Water Access

Conveyance
Water Access

2020

2019

279,786

279,786

-

-

279,786

279,786

Unit shares sold

At reporting date, the Company held a 279,786 (2019: 279,786) unit share Conveyance Water Access Licence and a 121,704 (2019: 121,704) unit share Supplementary Water Access Licence.
Water rights have an indefinite useful life as a result of their legal form and are thus not amortised. The Company has made this assessment based on a historical analysis, which suggests that the licences will
continue to be renewed on substantially the same terms and conditions.
The Water Access Licences are carried at their original deemed cost at the date of privatisation. The Company is required to assess the carrying value of these assets on an annual basis to determine whether the
value is impaired. The Company determined that these assets are not impaired.
a)
b)

The most recent independent valuation obtained for the Conveyance Water Access licences was at 30 June 2019 and resulted in a valuation of $4,765 per unit share.
The most recent independent valuation obtained for the Supplementary Water Access Licence was at 30 June 2019 and resulted in a valuation of $500 per unit share

Reconciliation of independent valuation

Conveyance
Water Access

Independent valuation price per unit share
Unit shares at 30 June 2020

Supplementary
Water Access

4,765

500

279,786

121,704

$'000
Fair value
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13. Current liabilities - trade and other payables
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

Trade creditors

6,804

11,107

Other creditors

923

1,738

7,727

12,845

2,268

2,217

8,721

8,472

– On-Farm Irrigation Efficiency Program

-

76

– Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program (PIIOP) Round 2

-

2,659

– Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program (PIIOP) Round 3

-

6,233

576

1,324

9,297

18,764

Trade creditors are normally settled on 28 day terms. The company has a $500,000 lease facility, which is currently not being utilised.

14. Current liabilities – provisions
Employee entitlements – Current

15. Current Liabilities Other
Land and Water Management Plans
Contract liabilities

– DPIE (Environment, Energy and Science) Grant Funding

A portion of the Land and Water Management Plan funds is applied to support community activities based on applications from Landholder Associations in support of specific programs, with the remainder
apportioned to reconfigurations and other water initiatives.
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16. Non-current liabilities - deferred tax liabilities
The balances comprise temporary differences attributable to:
Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Consumable stores

563

630

Accrued income

-

174

Accrued interest

2

-

Other - Prepayments

36

11

Fair value investments

237

360

39,757

45,425

40,595

46,600

Capital allowances and depreciation

Deferred tax liabilities have been measured at the corporate tax rate enacted and applying when the temporary differences are expected to reverse. For the 2020 year the tax rate used is 25% (2019: 30%).

17. Non-current liabilities – provisions
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

334

427

Employee entitlements
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18. Equity – contributed equity
Share capital
Ordinary shares

No. Shares
2020

No. Shares
2019

$'000
2020

$'000
2019

1,392,628

1,392,628

284,723

284,723

Reconciliation of movement in Share Capital

Shares
2020

2019

Balance at 1 July

1,392,628

1,392,628

Shares cancelled

-

-

1,392,628

1,392,628

Balance at 30 June

The share capital of the Company consists only of fully paid ordinary shares; the shares do not have a par value. All shares represent one vote at a shareholders’ meeting. Being a not for profit company, the shares
have no rights to dividends or the distribution of capital on winding up of the Company.
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19. Equity – Reserves and retained profits
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

20,000

20,000

20,000

20,000

Balance – 1 July

20,000

20,000

Balance – 30 June

20,000

20,000

Balance – 1 July

-

190

Adjustment on adoption of AASB 9

-

(190)

Adjusted balance – 1 July

-

-

Other comprehensive income

-

-

Balance – 30 June

-

-

136,874

149,421

11,814

(12,737)

Adjustment to retained earnings relating to adoption of AASB 15/AASB 1058

-

-

Adjustment to retained earnings relating to adoption of AASB 16

-

-

Adjustment to retained earnings relating to adoption of AASB 9

-

190

148,688

136,874

(a) Reserves:
Water reserve
Water reserve

Available for sale assets revaluation reserve

(b) Retained profits
Retained profits – Balance carried forward
Net profit/(loss)

Balance – 30 June
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20. Key Management Personnel Compensation
(a) Key Management Personnel
(i) Directors
The following were Directors of Murray Irrigation Ltd for the whole of the year
ended 30 June 2020.
PD Snowden, W Van Beek, C Filson, NH Baxter, SF Fawns, RT Gleeson, DF
Marples and P Largier
(ii) Other Key Management
The following employees had authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling activities of the Group, directly or indirectly during the financial year.
Please note that certain existing employees commenced and ceased to be Key
Management during the year:
S Barlow
L Knight
P Endley

(commenced 5 August 2019)

I Jamieson

(commenced 14 August 2019)

N Holahan

(commenced 4 February 2020)

M Renehan

(resigned 30 June 2019)

W Jose 		

(resigned 2 August 2019)

J Luengas

(resigned 15 November 2019)

S Campbell

(resigned 17 January 2020)

L Christesen

(resigned 10 March 2020)

J Bode was not considered to be part of Key Management from the date of sale of
the MILCast business unit (10 February 2020).
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(b) Directors compensation

Short-term

Superannuation

Gross
Salary

Cash
Bonus

$

$

PD Snowden

65,297

-

W Van Beek

33,790

C Filson

Additional
Payments

Employee
Benefits

Total 2020

Total 2019

Annual Leave &
Long Service Leave
$

$

$

$

-

6,203

-

71,500

68,500

-

-

3,210

-

37,000

32,500

56,726

-

-

5,389

-

62,115

65,000

NH Baxter

33,685

-

-

3,200

-

36,885

32,500

SF Fawns

31,050

-

-

2,950

-

34,000

32,500

RT Gleeson

31,050

-

-

2,950

-

34,000

32,500

DF Marples

57,534

-

-

5,466

-

63,000

62,539

P Largier

54,795

-

-

5,205

-

60,000

62,077

363,927

-

-

34,573

-

398,500

388,116

Superannuation

Employee
Benefits

Total 2020

Total 2019

Directors

Directors total

The member approved Director compensation cap is $400,000 per annum (2019: $400,000).

(c) Other Key Management Personnel compensation

Short-term

Other Key Management

Gross
Salary

Cash
Bonus

$

$

1,347,928

–

Additional
Payments*

399,582

Annual Leave and
Long Service Leave
$

$

$

$

145,257

36,849

1,929,616

2,203,889

* Additional Payments include entitlements on termination and redundancy – not subject to superannuation.
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(d) Directors and Key Management Personnel equity

Ordinary Shares held

No. Shares
2020

No. Shares
2019

18,808

18,808

(e) Other transactions with Directors and Key Management Personnel
During the year, the Company delivered water for irrigation and stock and domestic purposes to a number of Directors and other Key Management Personnel or their
related entities. The commercial terms and conditions relating to these transactions were no more favourable than those which would have been applied if dealing with the
relevant Directors and Key Management Personnel at arm's length in the same circumstances.
The value of the transactions referred to above totalled $640,177 (2019: $330,619).
Shareholder Directors receive annual allocation and water efficiency allocations based on their water and delivery entitlements, on the same terms as all other shareholders
and customers.
Aggregate amounts payable or receivable from Directors and other Key Management Personnel or their related entities as at balance date:

Water Accounts Receivable

2020
$

2019
$

33,204

30,171

(f) Loans to key management personnel
There are no loans to Directors or other Key Management Personnel.
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21. Remuneration of auditors
2020
$

2019
$

128,080

88,000

Preparation of statutory financial report

20,000

20,000

Other assurance services*

18,799

56,150

166,879

164,150

890

425

16,000

14,486

183,769

179,061

Fees paid or payable to the auditor in respect of:
Audit of financial report

Total audit and other assurance services
Taxation services
(note – this relates to tax advice services, not preparation of income tax returns)
Other non-assurance services**
Total Remuneration

The audit fees are higher in the 2020 year because certain audit procedures were brought forward to before year end, compared to the previous year. There was no
material change in the audit fee for the year end 30 June 2020.
*During the prior year, the Company's auditor was engaged to assist in the acquittal of government funded programs, to provide accounting advice in relation to AASB 9
Financial Instruments and to attend the MILCast stocktake. During the current year, the Company’s auditor was engaged to assist in the acquittal of government-funded
programs.
**In the current year the Company’s auditor was engaged to provide advice on the implementation of new accounting standards. During the prior year, the Company’s
auditor was engaged to assist on non-audit services relating to forensics review and fringe benefit tax advice.

22. Commitments
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2020
$’000

2019
$’000

Capital commitments

1,786

6,748

Operating commitments

1,909

2,266

Total commitments

3,695

9,014
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23. Land and Water Management Plans
a)

Includes farm rebates, monitoring, education and administration.

i) Details of income and expenditure on the Land and Water Management Plans are as follows:

Berriquin

Cadell

Denimein

Wakool

Total

2020

2019

2020

2019

2020

2019

2020

2019

2020

2019

150

158

63

68

2

2

34

67

249

295

150

158

63

68

2

2

34

67

249

295

-

-

-

(87)

-

-

-

-

-

(87)

-

-

-

(87)

-

-

-

-

-

(87)

150

158

63

(19)

2

2

34

67

249

208

Income
Irrigator contributions and interest
on funds
Expenditure
Expenses incurred (a)
Net funds accumulated

ii) Details of Land and Water Management Plans Funds held as implementing authority are as follows:

Berriquin
Opening balance – July 1
Add net funds accumulated/
(expended)
Closing balance – 30 June
(Note 14)
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Cadell

Denimein

Wakool

Total

2020

2019

2020

2019

2020

2019

2020

2019

2020

2019

5,128

4,970

2,151

2,170

55

53

1,138

1,071

8,472

8,264

150

158

63

(19)

2

2

34

67

249

208

5,278

5,128

2,214

2,151

57

55

1,172

1,138

8,721

8,472
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24. Financial risk management
Operating lease income

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

Less than 1 year

41

14

More than 1 year to less than 5 years

70

54

123

136

234

204

More than 5 years

The Company owns land which is leased by Telstra until 2033, NBN until 2034 and MILCast until 2022.
(a) Net fair values
The net fair value of financial assets and liabilities at the reporting date approximates the respective carrying values in the consolidated statement of financial position.
For further information regarding fair values of financial assets, refer to note 9.
(b) Credit risk exposure
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a party to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk arises from cash and cash
equivalents and deposits with banks as well as other credit exposures including outstanding receivables and long-term investments in interest bearing securities. The
maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date is the carrying amount of financial assets.
To manage its short-term credit risk, the Group invests surplus funds in term deposits to maximise its return while reducing the potential effect of the short term
unpredictability of financial markets. These investments are made with reputable Australian banks and are considered low risk.
The Group also has long term investments in the form of a portfolio of managed funds. These managed funds are invested in cash, fixed interest and equity securities.
In respect of accounts receivable, the balances are managed and monitored in accordance with a credit management policy. In respect of water debtors and loans
receivable from landholders, the Company has security over the debt in accordance with the Water Management Act 2000.
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25. Subsidiary
The Company has the following subsidiary:

Country of
incorporation

Class
of share

Equity holding %
2020

Equity holding %
2019

Australia

Ordinary

100

100

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

35,044

39,014

Total assets

513,632

522,450

Current Liabilities

(19,292)

(33,826)

Total liabilities

(60,221)

(80,853)

Net assets

453,411

441,597

Contributed equity

284,723

284,723

20,000

20,000

Accumulated profits

148,688

136,874

Total equity

453,411

441,597

11,814

(12,737)

-

-

11,814

(12,737)

Name of subsidiary
Riverbank Holdings Pty Ltd

Riverbank Holdings Pty Ltd did not trade at any time during the year ended 30 June 2020.

Parent entity information

(a) Summary financial information
The individual financial statements for the parent entity are as follows:
Current assets

Reserves

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
(b) Guarantees entered into by the parent entity
The parent entity has not entered into any financial guarantees.
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26. Segment information
The segments are as follows:
MIL represents the activities encompassing the delivery of water to landholders from Mulwala in the east to Moulamein in the west within Southern NSW.
Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program (PIIOP Round 2 and 3) consisted of funding agreements with the Commonwealth Government and included upgrading
water management and measurement systems, targeted channel refurbishment, system reconfiguration, system retirement and channel upgrade works. These agreements
have been terminated by mutual agreement with the Commonwealth Government.
In previous periods MILCast has been disclosed as a segment. The business was disposed of during the year and has therefore been classified as a discontinued
operation. The results of MILCast for the year are separately disclosed in Note 5.
All non-current assets are located in Australia. No single customer represents more than 10% of revenue.
Segment information for the reporting period is as follows:
:

On farm Delivery (GL)

MIL
2020
88
'000s

PIIOP Round 2
2020
'000s

PIIOP Round 3
2020
'000s

Total
2020
88
'000s

20,151

-

-

20,151

Revenue
Irrigation activities *
Sustainability products

9,372

9,372

29,523

-

-

29,523

Bulk water supply expenses *

-

-

-

-

Total cost of goods sold

-

-

-

-

29,523

-

-

29,523

(13,136)

(55)

(150)

(13,341)

Operations

(5,109)

(382)

(16)

(5,507)

Corporate and administrative

(3,727)

(15)

(34)

(3,776)

(21,972)

(452)

(200)

(22,624)

Total revenue
Cost of goods sold

Gross profit
Expenditure
Wages

Total expenditure
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26. Segment information (continued)
MIL
2020
88
'000s

PIIOP Round 2
2020
'000s

PIIOP Round 3
2020
'000s

Total
2020
88
'000s

7,551

(452)

(200)

6,899

(10,967)

-

(687)

(11,654)

(3,416)

(452)

(887)

(4,755)

2,215

-

-

2,215

(1,201)

(452)

(887)

(2,540)

AMRR

1,318

-

-

1,318

Other

1,272

-

-

1,272

Total interest received

2,590

-

-

2,590

Abnormal items

-

-

-

-

Provisions/adjustments

-

-

-

-

1,389

(452)

(887)

50

-

2,364

5,648

8,012

1,389

1,912

4,761

8,062

On farm Delivery (GL)
EBITDA
Depreciation
Operating EBIT
Other income
EBIT
Interest received

Net profit/(loss) before tax and PIIOP revenue
PIIOP revenue – Grant funding
Net profit/(loss) before tax, including PIIOP revenue

No segment assets or liabilities are disclosed because there is no measure of segment liabilities regularly reported to the chief operating decision makers.
* Due to the introduction of AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers, the revenue from water sales is now required to be shown net of the bulk water charges (refer Note 1(w)).
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27. Subsequent events
The Company is seeking further legal and accounting advice in relation to the monies held in the Land and Water Management Fund. It is anticipated that further progress
will be made during the financial year ending 30 June 2021. These funds are included in the financial statements as current liabilities – other, in the sum of $8.72 million
(Note 15).
There has been no other item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors, to affect significantly the operations of the
Company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Company in subsequent financial years.

28. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
The Consolidated Entity is not aware of any contingent assets or liabilities at the reporting date.
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Directors' Declaration

In the opinion of the Directors of Murray Irrigation Limited:
a) The consolidated financial statements and notes of the Company are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
i. Giving a true and fair view of its financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and
ii. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations
Regulations 2001; and
b) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:
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P.D. Snowden

N.H. Baxter

Chair
23 September 2020

Deputy Chair
23 September 2020
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Auditor's
Declaration

Collins Square, Tower 5
727 Collins Street
Melbourne VIC 3008
Correspondence to:
GPO Box 4736
Melbourne VIC 3001
T +61 3 8320 2222
F +61 3 8320 2200
E info.vic@au.gt.com
W www.grantthornton.com.au

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
To the Directors of Murray Irrigation Limited

In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead auditor for the audit of Murray
Irrigation Limited for the year ended 30 June 2020, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:
a

no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

b

no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd
Chartered Accountants

E W Passaris
Partner – Audit & Assurance
Melbourne, 23 September 2020

www.grantthornton.com.au

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients
and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International
Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are
delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to
Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to
Grant Thornton Australia Limited.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Independent
Auditor's Report

Collins Square, Tower 5
727 Collins Street
Melbourne VIC 3008
Correspondence to:
GPO Box 4736
Melbourne VIC 3001
T +61 3 8320 2222
F +61 3 8320 2200
E info.vic@au.gt.com
W www.grantthornton.com.au

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of Murray Irrigation Limited
Report on the audit of the financial report
Opinion
We have audited the financial report of Murray Irrigation Limited (the Company) and its subsidiary (the Group), which
comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies, and the Directors’ declaration.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
a

giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its performance for the year
ended on that date; and

b

complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the Corporations
Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are
relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the
Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report
thereon.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

www.grantthornton.com.au

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients
and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International
Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are
delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to
Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to
Grant Thornton Australia Limited.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Directors’ for the financial report
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the Corporations Act 2001. The
Directors’ responsibility also includes such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf. This description forms part of our
auditor’s report.

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd
Chartered Accountants

E W Passaris
Partner – Audit & Assurance
Melbourne, 23 September 2020
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